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WITNESSES

Garrison, John

DCS0
Agency Cxse #: 07-006585

ARREST WARRANT NUMBER

K250036

Arraeted: Aug 02, 2007

ACTION OF GRAND JURY

TRUEBILL .

|

Fereperson of Grand Ji
Date: August 30, 2

VERDICT

G\L;J}:;L

A )

POCKET NO. 2007GS18-1296

The State of South Carolina
| County of

DORCHESTER

COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
September 04, 2007 TERM -

THE STATE
Vs.

Anthony Sanders

indiciment for
MURDER

SC Code: 16-03-10/ 16-03-20
CDR Code: 0116
Class: FEL-X

After being fully advised as to my legal rights, |
hereby waive preseniment to the Grand Jury.

Pefendant .
B e e e e TP ey e e e i e e ———— T o A
1 . .

hereby appear in my own proper parson and
plead guilty to the within indictment or to

Detendant

Witness:
C.C.C. PLS. AND G.S.

E07 82 43S

TaATEOT Y

Sfeaddy 4o unon ng
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)
. COUNTY OF DORCHESTER ")

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA) INDICTMENT
 2007GS18-1296

* Ata Court of General Sesslans, convened on September 04, 2007 the Grand

Jurors ot Dorchester County present upon their cath;

MURDER

. The dsfendant, Anthony 'Séqders. did in Dorchester County on or about July 10, 2007,

with malice aforethought, kili one Diane Graht by means of shooting the victim, and the
said w‘ctfm did dle as a proximate result therecf, this being In vioiation of section 16-3-10
of the South Carglina Code of Laws, as amended and the common law of South

Carolina.

Against the peace and dignity of the State, and contrary {o the statute in such

case made and provided.

!

Donatd Sorenson, SOLICITOR
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IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )
COUNTY OF Dorchaater
STATE Vs ; INDIGTMENT/CASES; 2007G518-1268
Adthony Sandars y A K269836Y) m~
e ; ) Data of Cifense: 02007 LN A {E i ;? 7
SC.Code § 16310
Race: _ B8 - Sex’' M. .  Age 24 ) coRCodes: T OITE
DoB: | ses ) . SFP
Adgmss _ ) ) 2 8 2023
. ) ce rC.
‘ SENTENCE 8 OUrf of A
Dus: SIo# ) OPeg /s
_ Indispasiton of the said indictment comas now the Defendant who was: CONVICTEDOF  or O FLEADS
T0: Murder | . _
Inviolatonof  § 16-3-10 of the §.C. Code of Laws, bearing COR Code # 0110
[0 NONVIOLENT KIVIOLENT  [JSEROUS  [X] MOST SERIOUS [J Mandatary GPS (CSC (1g17-2545
wiminos 18t or Lawd Act) .
The cherge fs:  {X] As indicted, [JLesser Included Offsnsa, []Defandant Walvas Presantment to Grand Jury. (Cefondant inkal )
Thepleals: [ out Negoliations or Recommendaton, (] Negofated Sentanca, [ Recommerdation by the State.
A (3 Y
! SCB12046 ' 5CB65328
Jennings, i 4 SC 8art? Anthony Sanders Aoy for Defandant SCBa¥
WHEREFCRE, the DefSfidanta commitag Jq; ¢ Statp Department of Comections, County Datantion Centar,
for a datarminate tarm %iﬂm&mg of [] underthe  Youthtud ME molthaxceed years
ardlortopayalfnecfS __ . :providedthatuponthesemvicoof . daysimonthsiyears andiur paymant

of§ : plus costs and assessments as applicabla®; the batance Is suspendad with  probotion.  for
months/years and subject o South Carciing Department of Probalicn, Parele end Pardon Services standard conditions of probation,
which ar Incorperated by ieference.

] concURRENT o [ CONSECUTIVE o sentence on:
[ ‘The Defendant is o ba glven credit for Ema served pursuant o 8.C, Code £24-13-40 to ba calulated and appled bytha Stata Dept. of Cerractions
] ™o Dafandant Is io be placed on the Central Registry of Child Abusa and Neglact pursuant to! 8.C.Coda § 17-25-136.

Purguant to 18 U.S.C. Section 922, it Ie unlawiul for a person convicted of a violation of Sectlon 16-25-20 or 16-25-65
(Criminal Domestic Viciencs) to ship, transport, possoss, of réceive 8 firearm or ammunition,

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
[ClRestrumioN:  (oefered [ ] Dof.Walves Hewtng  [|Ondered  PTUP
Tolat & . Pplus20%fes:d ' daysihours Public Sarvice Empioyment
Paymant Tarma: Obiain GED ]
0] setvyscoepes Attend Voc. Rehab. ar Job Garp.
- May serve W/E begining
Raciptent: Substance Abuse Counseling [ ]
Fine: 3 Random Drug/Alcohos 0
§ 14-1:206 (Asseasments 107.5 %) § Fine may ba pd. In aqual, consecutive weekiy/menthly
§ 141211(A) 1)Conv. Surcharge) - s100 s \U5 pmis. of § Beginning
8 141-211(A)(2) (DUI Surcharge) $100 $ 5 paid to Public Defender Fund
§ 5652905 (DUI Asseasmant) 27§ orer 1
§ 56-1-268 (DUI Broath Tes) s25_¢% W Yie I GIP
§ 35.13 (Public Del/Prob) “sso0 8 f -
§ 73.3, 1B TF {Law Enforca. Funding) 8255 5
§ 33.7, t8 TP (Drug Court Surchargs) $1007§
§ 50-21-114 (BUI Breath Test Fee) $50 ¢ 0
Appointed FD er appointed other counsel, § 35.13 TP
§ 66.52042()) (Veticle Asssssmen!) $40ica_sg requiras $500 be paid to Clerk during probatn.
§ 90,11 TP (SCCJA Sweharge) $5 s jo]
3% to County  {if pad In Instaftmerts) $ 300
TOTAL . )j\ s 135 9Y FRESIDING JUDGE {\'
Cilve, /donam .
Clerk of Court/ Deputy Clerk Jutgn Code: :
- Senisrce Dale: __ 5 f"z EZc. m

Court Reportar: oehy Apawyn " [ scomzt7 (oar2009)
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ﬂ

WITNESSES

Garrison, John

DpCso

- Ageacy Cuse #; 07-008585

ARREST WARRANT NUMBER

K289837

Arrested: Aug 02, 2007

ACTION OF GRAND JURY

TRUE BiLL

DOCKET NO. 2007GS18-1297

The State of South Carolina -
County of - |
* DORCHESTER

COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
September 04, 2007 TEAM

THE STATE -
vs.

Anthony Sanders

Indli:hn'ent_ for
MURDER

d ]

SC Code: 16-03-10/ 16-03-20
CDR Code: 0116
Class: FEL-X

After being fully advised as tomy legal rights, |
hereby waive presentment to the Grand Jury.

Defendant C

hereby appear in my own proper person and

. plead guilty to the within indictment or to

Daiandém

Wiﬁ'&ess:

C.C.C.PLS.ANDGS.

3ddy 40 Hn0J 03

-

i
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA) INDICTMENT
. ) §
COUNTY OF DORCHESTER ) 2007GS18-1297

At a Court of General Sesslons, convened on September 04, 2007 the Grand
- Jurors of Darchester County present upon their ocath: o

’

Tha defendant, Antheny Sanders, did in Dorchestar County on or about July 10, 2007,
with malice aforethought, kill one Deanna Devore by means of shooting the vicﬁm, and
the said victim did die as a proximate result thersol, this being In viclation of section 16-
3-10 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, as amended and the' comman law of South

Carolina.

Against the peace and dignity of the State, and contrary to the statute in such

VvV .
Donaid Sorenson, SOLICITOR

case made and provided.
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STATE OF SOUTH GAROLINA ) IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
GOUNTY OF : Dorchester ) INDICTMENTICASER: ' 2007G518-1297
STATE VS. ) A :
. . Anthony Sendors ) - K2BS8Tmmy gt 73 g Yoy
- ; ) Date of Offense:  7/10/2007 @‘ [ANISTR R
AKA: 3 SC.Code § 16-3-10 -
Roca: B _ Sac M Age: rid . COR Code #: 0116 —
DOB: _ .. ! som ) g 20 UL
Agdress: . — . ———— )
B ) senrence 5 GO Of Appeals
ou; M SiD#: ) . _
In disposition af the s=id ingictment comes now tho Defendant who was: CONVICTEDOF  or [] PLEADS
TO: Murder ]
nvolsiono! § - 16310 of the S.C. Code of Laws, bearing CDR Coda # 0118 .
[C] NON-VIOLENT (KIViCLENT  [[]JSERIOUS &) mosT SERIOUS [] Mendatory.GPS (CSC 3§17-2545
. whminor 1s:ur1.ewu Act) '
The charge ta:  [X] As Indictad, DLasm'[ndudwOﬂm [ Defendant Weives Presentment to Grand Jury. (Pefendant Initial )
Thaplsals O mmmﬁamﬂmmemaﬁm [] Negotated Sentence, 0 Recommendation by the State,
A L} - -
SCB12046 $CB685328

Jonnings, B SC Bark Anthony Sandera ’ Altomey for Defandant SC Bark
WHEREFORE, the e, 4 Swta Dapartmantof Comcon, County Dotontion Center,
for o detonminate term of et . ] underthe YmmmE nat to excoed ' yeara
andfortopsyafinect :pluﬂdedﬂ'lawponmmwof dwdmnﬂm&a&marﬂorpémm
of § ; pius costs and assessments ag applicabla™ the balanco Is suspended with  probation  for
monthalyears and subject to South Carolina Departmant of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard condiions of probation,

which are Incorporated by referance.,

[J CONCURRENT or [] CONSECUTIVE to sentsnce om;
(] The Defendant Is to be given credit for time sarved pursuant 1o S.C. Cods §24-13-40 to be calculated and appliad by the Stats Dept. of Comrections
[T] The Defendant s'ts be placed an the Central Raglatry of Child Abuss and Neglect pursuant to S.C. Code §  17-25-136.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 922, it ls uniawtul for a parson convicted of a violation of Section 16-25-20 or 18-25-65
(Criminal Domastic Violence) to ship, trancport, pogsess, or recaive a tirearm or ammunition.

SCCA17 (06/2009)

) SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
[JRESTITUTION: ~ [[Deforred [ ] Del. Walvos Hoarlog [ Ordered  PTUP-
Tott: & pluss 20% fee: § saysinours Publlc Servio Employment
ml Terms: . Ovtain GED [ .
[] sstoyscoepprs . Attand Vo, Rehab. or Job Camp.
. May serve W/E begining
Reciplent : Substancs Abuse Counsellng {7
"Fine: $ Random Drug/Aloohol '
§ 14-1.208 (Assessments 107.5 %) . ¥ Fine may be pd. n equal, consecutive waekly/monthly
8 14.0-211(A){ 1)(Conv. Surcharge) - $100° 5 O™ pmts. of § ———— Beginning
§ 141.211(A)(2) (DUI Surcharge) $100 § § pald tn Public Dafendar Fund
§ 5852985 (DUI Assessment) $12 § Othes: p
§ 56-1-288 (DU Bresth Tet) . $25_% X 76 {RI0ID
§ 35,13 (Public DeY/Prob) $500 $ }
§ 733, 1B TP (Law Enforce. Funding) L
§ 33.7, 1B TP (Drwg Court Surcharge) . $1007§
§ So21-116 (Bu1 Brath Towt Foo B S [JAPond P or appoinind cther counsel § 35,13 TP
§ 56-5-2042(J) (Vahicls Assesaman) " $40/ea y )
§ 901 TP (SCCIA , “—E—Fi requires $500 be paid to Cierk during probation
3% toCounty  (f pald in nstatiments) $ A a0
TOTAL 0” U Q d‘ " n $ 1%3 bl PRESIDING JUDGE'
: 4 Judge Coda:
Cletk of Court/ Depuly . 3 ? d
Court Roporter; - {hoan Uyﬂﬂ _ Sentence Date: ¢ 3 D[
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WITNESSES

Garrison, John

DCsSO
Agency Cuse 8: 07-008585

ARREST WARRANY NUMBER

K289828
Arrented: Aug 02, 2007

ACTION OF GRAND JURY

TRUE BILL

DOCKET NO. 2007GS18-1298

The State of South Carolina
County of .
DORCHESTER

COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
September 04, 2007 TERM

After being fuily advised as to my legaf rights, |
hereby waive presentment to the Grand Jury.

H
i

Defendant !

{

H

|
hereby appsar-in my own proper person and
plead gulity to the within Indfctment orto-

Defendant
= Witness:
THE STATE C.C.C. PLS. ANDG.S.
VS,
) :
Anthony Sanders O %
O b
o 3
5 ® 0
Indiciment for Q g E:z
MURDER =8 <
- "'U [ Y m 1
D * B =
[#>]

SC Code: 15—93-10)16-03-20
CDR Code: o116
Class: FEL-X
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 STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA) INDICTMENT

) -
COUNTY OF DORCHESTER ) 2007GS18-1288

B e

At a Court of General Sessions, convened on September 04, 2007 the Grand

Jurors of Dofchester County present upan their oath:

MURDER

‘i‘he defendant, Anthony éanders, did in Dorchester County on or about July 10, 2007,
with malice aforathought, kil one Jatavius Lee Devore by means of shooting the victim,
and the said victin; did die as a proximate rasult thereol, this baing In vio!ation of saction
16-3—10‘of the South Carolina Code of Laws, as amended and ﬁwe common law of

South Carolina.

Against the peace and digﬁity of the State, and contrary to the statute in such

-case made and provided.

{
&

Donald Sorenson,” SCLICITOR
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA . ) IN THE COURT COF GENERAL SESSIONS
COUNTY OF Dorchestar ]
INDICTMENT/CASE# - - 2007G818-1208
§TATE . . VA )
Aathony Sanders ) Al K265838
— . 5 ) Dataof Ofenee  7/10/2007 1:“',%; r
. - . ) $C.Cods § 16-3-10 ALY ATE Y
Rate: B Sex: M Age: 27 CDR Code # 0118 E;’
DoB: . Ss#: ) @
Addross _ ) S‘FP
- ) SENTENCE ar-@e\ 28. 2023
oL#: SIoH: ) OU
in disposition of the sald Indictmen! comes now the Defendant who was: CONVIGTED OF or PLEQM,QD@
to: Murder . a/S
In violation of § 18-3-10 of tha 8,C. Coda of Laws, bearing CDR Code # 0118
D NONVIOLENT RVIOLENT [(Jserious X| MOST SERIOUS D Mandatory GPS (CSC D§1?-25-45
wiminos 15t or Lewd Act)
The charpe lo:  [X] As Indicted, * [ Jtessar Included Offense, [ Defendant Walves Presentment to Grand Jury, (Dofendant initial }
The p!aa iz [ Without Negotiations or Recommendation, [ Negotigted Santence, [1 Recommendation by the Stata.
A
8CB12046 ) SCB&s328

RrC. SC Bar# . Anthony Sandem Altomay for Dafendant SC Bar
WHEREFORE, the'Bbfand Is.oammlﬁ%ﬁa 5‘1 (3/ tn Depevriment of Comections, County De'ention Centar,
fwadamm:'namtannof!;% !ﬂfa monthe/yearaer || underthe  Yeuthfid Offendar nol to excesd years
andfortopavafinect$ : provided that upon the service of daysimonths/years and/or payment

of§ ; plus costs and assessments rs applicable®; the batanco 1s suspended with  probation  for
months/years and subjset fo South Carcling Departmen) of Proehation, Parofs and Pardan Services standard conditions of probation, .
which am incorporated by ceferenca, -

[ CONCURRENT or [] CONSECUTIVE to sentercs on:
(3 The Datendant s to be given credil for time served oursusnt to 5.C. Coda  §24-13-40 to be calculstad and applied by the State DapL. of Camectians
[:] The Defendant is to ba placad on the Central Reglelry of CHid Abuse and Neglect pursuant 1 8.C. Coda § 17-25-135.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Ssctlon 922, It Is unlawful for a person convicted of & violation of Section 16-25-20 or 18-25-65
(Criminal Domestic Viclence) to ship, transpor, possess, or recelve a firearm or ammunition.

SPECIAL CONDITIONS: .
(IRESTITUTION:  [Deforred ] Def. Waivez Hoaring  [] Ordoret  PTUP
Total:- § pius 20% fea: § daysihours Puiite Servics Emplayment
Payment Temmsa: Ovtaln GED E]
[0 setvyscorPes i Attand Vo, Rehab. or Job Com
May sarve W/E beglalng
Recipient: Subgtanen Abuse Counseling [ _]
Flne: ' ' A RandomOmgAlcohal’ ]
§ 14-1-208 {Assesaments 107.5 %) $ Fine may be pd. In 6qual, consecutive weakmmmlm
8 14-1.211(A)( 1)(Conv. Surcharge) $100 5 WO pmis, of § Baginning
§ 14-4-211(A)(2) (OU! Surchargs} $100 $ $ pald to Public Defender Fund
§ 56-5-2885 (DU Assessment} $12°§ Other 4
§ 58-1-288 (DUI Breath Test) $25 S .
§ 35,33 (Public Det/Prob) 3500 $
§ 7., 18 TP (Law Enforce. Funding) 52675 A '
§ 33.7,1B TP (Dwug Court Surchargs) 5100 §
. t F
g 50-21+114 {au:r BraamATea sa)m . ;50 s CRenied PD o avpeiid char comnsei § B3 1P
56-5- () {Vehiclo Ase ant) =a_s = requirss $500 be paid to Clerk dusing probation.
§ 80.11 TP (SCCJA Surcharge) % 5 N

3% to County (i patd I Installments) § 30 QF/L ' . \
TOTAL &UJ\. d\ﬂ s |33V PRESIDING JUDGE \J\\&L\ N
W L) smgecotss _ 2 ¢ (p O\ =

Clark 6f Court/ Daputy C

" Caut Reporter: Dol o Sentenca Dats: IELTJm a

SCCAZIT (DAr2009)




STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA AEOTIF IS P JUDGMENT IN A CIVIL CASE
COUNTY OF DORCHESTER Loinhiond DOPY CASE NUMBER 2011CP1800027
IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS ... ... ]
Anthony Sanders LELFotr = P South:Carolina State Of

Al
PLAINTIFFE(S) 1 e (F ForDEFENDANT(S)

DURSHESTER GhuNAttorney for: O Plaintiff O Defendant
Submitted by: O Self-Represented Litigant

DISPOSITION TYPE (CHECK ONE)
O  JURY VERDICT. This action came before the court for a trial by jury. The issues have been tried and a verdict rendered.

DECISION BY THE COURT. This action came to trial or hearing before the court, The issues have been tried or heard and a
decision rendered. O Sce Page 2 for dditional information.

ACTION DISMISSED (CHECK REASON): O Rule 12(b}, SCRCP; 0O Rule 41(a), SCRCP (Vol. Nonsuit);
O Rule 43(k), SCRCP (Settled); 0O Other:

O ACTION STRICKEN (CHECK REASON): O Rule 40(j) SCRCP; 0O Bankruptcy;

O Binding arbitration, subject to right to restore to confirm, vacate or 0O Cther: EiECEIVED

modify arbitration award;
O  STAYED DUE TO BANKRUPTCY

O  DISPOSITION OF APPEAL TO THE CIRCUIT COURT (CHECK APPLICABLE BOX): SEP 28 2023
0O Affirmed; O Reversed; O Remanded, O Other: SC C
ourt of Appesls

NOTE: ATTORNEYS ARE RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTIFYING LOWER COURT. TRIBUNAL, OR ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY OF THE
CIRCUIT COURT RULING IN THIS APPEAL.

IT IS ORDERED AND ADJUDGED: ® Sec attached order; (formal order to follow) O Statement of Judgment by the Court:
ORDER INFORMATION

B

This order ® ends O does not end the case.
Additional Information for the Clerk:

INFORMATION FOR THE JUDGMENT INDEX
‘Complete this section below when the judgment affects title to real or personal property or if any amount should be enrolled. If
therc is no judgment information, indicate “N/A” in onc of the boxes below,
Judgment in Favor of Judgment Against Judgment Amount To be Enrolled
(List name(s) bclow) (List name(s) below) (List amount{s) below)

If applicable, describe the property, including tax map information and address, referenced in the order:

The judgment information above has been provided by the submitting party. Disputes concerning the amounts contained in this
form may be addressed by way of motion pursuant to the SC Rules of Civil Procedure. Amounts to be computed such as interest or
additional taxable costs not available at the time the form and final order are submitted to the judge may be provided to the clerk.
Note: Title abstractors and researchers should refer to the official court order for judgment details.

E-Filing Note: In E-Filing counties, the Court will electronically sign this form using a separate electronic signature page.

Kristi Curtis 2762 9/7/2023
Circuit Court Judge Judge Code Date
CPFORM4CM

SCCA SCRCP Form 4C (Revised 2/17)




For Clerk of Court Office Use Only

This judgment was entered on 9/7/2023, and a copy mailed first class or placed in the appropriate attorney’s box on-9/7/2023, to
attorneys of record or to parties (when appearing pro se) as follows:

Anthony Sanders #339645 Danielle Dixon

Lee Correctional Inst. Office of the Attorney General
990 Wisacky Hwy PO Box 11549

Bishopville, SC 29010 ' Columbia, SC 29211-1549
Leslie Therese Sarji

171 Church Street Suite 360

Charleston, SC 29401

ATTORNEY(S) FOR THE PLAINTIFF(S)

Court Reporter Cheryl Grahiam - Clgrk of Court

Court Reporter:

E-Filing Note: In E-Filing counties, the date of Entry of Judgment is the same date as reflected on the Electronic File
_ Stamp and the clerk’s entering of the date of judgment above is not required in those counties. The clerk will mail a
copy of the judgement to parties who are not E-Filers or who are appearing pro se. See Rule 77(d), SCRCP.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING DECISION BY THE COURT AS REFERENCED ON PAGE 1.

This action came to trial or hearing before the court. The issues have been tried or heard and a decision rendered.

CPFORM4Cm )
SCCA SCRCP Form 4C (Revised 2117)



IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )
) FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
COUNTY OF DORCHESTER )
CASENO.: 2011-CP-18-0027
ANTHONY SANDERS, #339645
ORDER
Applicant, (Granting Applicant a Direct Appeal)
(o 8 o
8 o

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, :
QFP 28 2023 a0,

SC Court of Appeals

May 17, 2021

N0 4

~i

Respondent.

)
)
)
g
-Versus- — ]
. " ‘ ; 0o o,
 RECEIVED Bors
)
)
)

AXNBD v
SS9 Hd [~
J

Hearing Date:
Presiding Judge: Kristi F. Curtis
Attorney for the State: Benjamin H. Limbaugh
Attorney for the Applicant: Leslie T. Sarji
Court Reporter: Yvestre Torres

This matter came before me in Orangeburg County on May 17, 2021 for a hearing on
Applicant’s Petition for Post-Conviction Relief, alleging ineffective assistance of counsel in
being advised to enter into an agreement to waive his right to a jury trial, a direct appeal, and to
any claims for ineffective assistance of counsel. Applicant alleges that this waiver constitutes a
structural error requiring the court to grant him a direct appeal and a new trial. Based upon the
testimony presented during the hearing of this matter and for the reasons stated herein, I find that
Applicant received ineffective assistance of counsel in being advised to sign the agreement
waiving his right to direct appeal and therefore grant Applicant a belated appeal. The court finds

Applicant’s remaining grounds for post-conviction relief are without merit and denies

Applicant’s request for a new trial.
PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Applicant is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant

to orders of commitment of the Dorchester County Clerk of Court. Applicant was indicted in



_ case numbers 2007-GS-18-1296, ~1297, and -12§8 for three counts of Murder. Applicant
entered a not guilty plea and was scheduled for a jury trial. During a pre-trial status conference
on January 21, 2010, Applicant’s trial counsel, Boyd Young, Esquire, submitted a signed
“Contractual Consent Order to Waive Rights to Jury Trial” (hereafier referred to as “Waiver™) to
the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr. The Waiver provided that, in exchange for the State not
seeking the death penalty, Applicant would proceed to a bench trial and he would waive his
rights to a direct appeal, to post-conviction relief proceedings, or habeas corpus proceedings.
After questioning Appellant as to his understanding of the Waiver, Judge Dennis approved the
Waiver.

Appellant proceeded to a bench trial before Judge Dennis on March 8, 2010. At the
conclusion of the bench trial, Applicant was found guilty of three (3) counts of murder, and on
March 9, 2010 he received a life sentence for all three counts.

Applicant filed a pro se appeal to the Court of Appeals, which was dismissed for failure
to serve and file a notice of appeal with proper proof of service. Applicant then filed an
application for post-conviction relief on January 6, 2011, alleging ineffective assistance of
counsel for providing him with “misleading statements™ that rendered his entry into the Waiver
Agreement involuntary. The State moved to dismiss pursuant to the Wai;rer.

A hearing was held on Applicant’s application for post-conviction relief. Applicant
moved for a continuance to allow for more time to investigate potential witnesses. The State
opposed the continuance based on the Waiver. Applicant then requested an evidentiary hearing
on the issue of whether he received ineffective assistance of counsel that rendered his entry into

the Waiver involuntary. The State opposed, and the PCR court dismissed the application.



Applicant appealed the dismissal of his PCR application, arguing that he should have
been allc.owed to present evidence that his entry into the Waiver was based upon ineffective
assistance of counsel. The South Carolina Supreme Court agreed and remanded Applicant’s case
for “an evidentiary hearing on the narrow issue of whether Sanders received ineffective

assistance of counsel in being advised to enter into the Agreement.” Sanders v. State, 412 S.C.

611,773 S.E.2d 580 (2015).

Applicant’s petition for post-conviction relief aileged that trial counsel “misadvised [him]}
with misleading statements that render [his] signing of the [Waiver] involuntary ....”

A hearing on the issue of whether Applicant received ineffective assistance of counsel
when his attorney advised him to enter into the Waiver was held on July 9, 2018, before the
Honorable Robin B. Stillwell. By Order filed October 17, 2018, Judge Stillwell found that trial
counsel was ineffective for advising Applicant to enter into an agreement waiving his right to
collateral review of his conviction. Judge Stilwell remanded Applicant’s petition for a hearing
on the merits of Applicant’s claim for post-conviction relief.

Applicant is now before the Court on the merits-of his claim for post-conviction

relief. Applicant raises the following issues in his petition:

1. Trial Counsel provided ineffective as:'sistance of counsel in advising Applicant to
waive his right to a jury trial, a direct appeal, and to any claim of ineffective
assistance of counsel, all of which amount to a structural error that requires the

grant of a new trial.

2. Trial Counsel failed to subject the prosecution’s case to meaningful adversarial

testing.

'3. Trial Counsel failed to object to the adtnissibility of the shell casings.
3



4. Trial Counsel failed to inform Applicant, or to advise him, regarding Trial
Counsel’s personal conflict in advising him to sign the waiver of a jury trial,
resulting in ineffective assistance of counsel sufficient to require reversal of

Applicant’s conviction and remand for a new trial.
5. Trial Counsel failed to adequately investigate the case prior to trial.
6. Trial Counsel failed to present any expert testimony regarding the DNA evidence.

7. Trial Counsel failed to object to hearsay evidence of Xavier Walker’s

identification of Applicant.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

This Court has had the opportunity to review the record in its entirety and has
heard the testimony provided at the hearing in this matter. Further, this Court has had the
opportunity to observe the witnesses presented at the hearing, determine their credibility,
and has weighed their testimony accordingly. Set forth below are the relevant findings of

facts and conclusions of law as required by 8.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80 (2003).
Standard for Establishing Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

In a PCR action, “[t]he burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations

by a preponderance of the evidence.” Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172,

174 (2002) {citing Rule 71.1(¢), SCRCP). Where ineffective assistance of counsel is
alleged as a ground for relief, the Post-Conviction Relief Applicant must prove that (1)

counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional



norms, and (2) that the deficient performance prejudiced the Applicant’s case. Porter v.

State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006) (citing Strickland v. Washington,

466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984)). In order to prove prejudice, Applicant must show that but for
counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability the result of the trial wonld have been

different. Johnson v, State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997). A reasonable

probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.
Id. Courts presume that “counsel rendered a&equate assistance and made all significant
decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at
690. Ordinarily, a PCR Applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief.

Cherry v. State, 300 8.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989).

When an applicant alleges ineffective assistance of counse! as a ground for relief, he or she
must prove “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process
that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334

S.E.2d 441 (quoting Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984)). The proper measure of

performance is whether an attorney provided Fepresentatibn within the range of competence
required in criminal cases. Id. |

“[Clounsel is stroﬁgly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all
significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Butler, 286 S.C. at 442,

334 S.E.2d at 814 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The applicant must overcome this

presumption to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989).
“Judicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance must be highly deferential, as it is all too tempting for
a defendant to second-guess counsel’s assistance after conviction or an adverse sentence, and it is

all too easy for a court, examining counsel’s defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude



that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689;

Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 456-57, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011). “[W1hen counsel articulates a

valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective

assistance of counsel.” Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 567, 689 S.E.2d 629, 632 (2010) (citing

Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 110, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000)).

The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on
the fundamental faimness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. Strickiand, 466 U.S.
at 696.

However, where there is an actual “conflict of interest in a criminal matter, the
[Applicant] is not required to show prejudice in the traditional Strickland sense.” Gonzales v.
State, 419 S.C. 2, 795 S.E.2d 835 (2017).

L Does the prior order of the court holding the Waiver Agreement invalid as to

Applicant’s “waiver of the right to collateral review of his conviction” require this
court to grant Applicant a belated appeal? [Applicant’s grounds 1 and 4)

The South Carolina Supreme Court remanded Applicant’s case to the circuit court for a
hearing on the issue of whether Applicant received ineffective assistance of counsel in being
advised to enter into an agreement to waive his right to collateral review of his conviction. Sanders
v. State, 412 8.C. 611, 773 S.E.2d 580 (2015). At the hearing before Judge Stilwell, Applicant
testified that his attorney advised him that the waiver was not enforceable and that trial counsel
informed him that he could still appeal and could stili have a PCR hearing. Judge Stilwell found
that Applicant could not, as a matter of law, waive his right to collateral review of a trial that had
not yet occurred, as he could not have known yet what errors might occur at trial. He further found

that it was an inherent conflict of interest for Trial Counsel to advise him to sign an agreement that



included a waiver of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Judge Stilwell ruled that “trial
counsel provided Applicant with ineffective assistance f-’f counsel when he advised Applicant that
the Waiver was unenforceable with regard to collateral review of. Applicant’s conviction.”
[Stilwell order of 10-17-2018]. Judge Stilwell remanded the case for a hearing on the merits of
his Application for Post-Conviction Relief.

For the same reasons cited by Judge Stilwell in granting Applicant a hearing on the merits
of his claims for Post-Conviction Relief, this court finds Applicant is entitled to a direct appeal.
An applicant who meets the burden of showing that he did not knowingly and voluntarily waive

his right to a direct appeal of his trial conviction is entitled to a belated appeal. Wilson v. State

348 8.C. 215, 559 S.E.2d 581 (2002). An indigent defendant convicted by trial has the right to be
informed of the right to appeal and the manner and method for taking the appeal. Cherry, 300 S.C.
at 116, 386 S.E.2d at 626.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has upheld the enforceability of a guilty plea agreement
wherein the Defendant waived his right to a direct appeal, PCR, and habeas corpus relief. In
Spoone v. State, 379 S.C.‘1-38, 665 S.E.2d 605 (2008), the court held that such an agreement was
enforceable within the context of a guilty plea if the defendant entered into the waiver agreement
knowingly and voluritarily. The Court noted in its review of Applicant’s case, however, that the
practice of waiving any claim of ineffective assistance of counsel prior to a trial was “especially
troubling” because a trial allows “significantly more potential for error than a guilty plea.”

Sanders, 412 §.C. 611, 616, 773 S.E.2d 580, 582 (2015) (footnote 2).

This court finds that it was ineffective assistance of counsel for Trial Counsel to advise
Applicant to waive his right to appeal any trial errors where the trial had not yet occurred. Unlike

a guilty plea, where the defendant is admitting guilt and is only in front of the trial judge for



acceptance of the plea and s-entencing, a trial has an unlimited number of opportunities for legal
error by the attorneys or the judge. It is difficult to conceive of a scenario where any pre-trial
* waiver of the right to appeal any errors of law committed during a future trial would be enforceable.
‘This court finds that such a waiver prior to trial is unenforceable as a matter of law. |

In this case, Applicant attempted to file a pro se appeal, which was dismissed for failure to
perfect the appeal. This court finds, however, that Applicant’s attc;..mpt to appeal was likely
thwarted by the Waiver Agreement. Because he signed the Waiver, Trial Counsel did not file the
Notice of Appeal on his behalf. This court finds Applicant certainly wanted to appeal these
convictions sentencing hxm to a term of life imprisonment, and he did not knowingly and
voluntarily waive that right. This court therefore finds Applicant is entitled to a belated Appeal.

IL Does the prior order'of the court holding the Waiver Agreement invalid as to

Applicant-’s :Waiver of the right to collateral review of his conviction” require this
court to also invalidate his waiver of the right to a jury trial and grant Applicant a
new trial? [Applicant’s grounds 1 and 4)

Applicant argues that because the waiver of Applicant’s right to collateral reviéw of the
conviction was declared invalid, this court should also invalidate the waiver (_)f his right to a jury
trial as the result of ineffective assistance of counsel. This court disagrees. The court finds that
Applicant knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to a trial‘by jury, and that he was not

' prejudiced by that decision.

! This court recognizes that Trial Counsel himself believed that the Waiver was
unenforceable as to both the waiver of PCR and of direct appeal, and that he instructed his client
that those waivers were likely unenforceable. In that respect, Trial Counsel was absolutely correct.
. Trial Counsel testified his primary concern in this case was removing the death penalty, and
signing the Waiver accomplished that primary poal.
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Tﬁe facts of this case were particularly horrific. Applicant was charged with the murders
of three i)eople: 44-year old Diane Grant, along with her 20-year old son Jatavius Devore and 15-
year old daughter bemna Devore. Both Diane Grant and Jatavius Devore were killed in their
apartment by a single, close-range gunshot wound to the head. [Trial Tr. at 28, 205, 207] The
body of 15-year old Deanna was found the next morning behind a nearby apartment building.
[Trial Tr. at 43-44] The pathologist testified Deanna was shot 4 to 5 times - in the back, in the
face, ;nd several more times in the neck. [Trial Tr. at 211-15] Deanna was found partially nude,
Her pajama pants were:found near her body and semen was recovered from her mouth and pajama
pants. [Trial Tr. at 46, 217, 141, 142] Witnesses testified they heard a gunshot and a scream,
followed by multiple additional gunshots. [Trial Tr. at 13, 17] The State’s theory was that
Applicant was sexually assaulting Deanna when her brother and mother either walked in on the
assault or woke up to find Applicant in the apartment assaulting Deanna. The State theorized that
Applicant first shot and kilied Diane and Jatavius, but that Deanna was able to flee from the scene
before Applicant chased her down and killed her behind the apartment building. [Trial Tr. at 249,
250]

The State sought the death penalty for these murders. Trial Counsel testified that his
primary concern was to remove the death penalty as a possible punishment. [PCR Tr. at 42] The
parties entered into plea negotiations wherein the State agreed to remove the death penalty and
agree to a life sentence in exchange for Applicant’s guilty plea to the murders. [PCR Tr. at 39, 40]
Applicant was transported to the courthouse to review the State’s evidence with his attorney and
to possibly enter a plea, but he ultimately declined to enter into the plea agreement. [PCR Tr. at
40] The State then offered to remove the death penalty in exchange for Applicant’s waiver of the

right to a jury trial and waiver of his right to appeal, PCR, and habeas corpus relief. [PCR Tr. at



40-41] Applicant agreed and signed the Waiver Agreement, and came before Judge Dennis on
Ja:iuary 21, 2010 for approval of the agreement. [Status Conf. Tr. at 2-3].

During the status conference, Judge Dennis questioned Applicant’s trial attorneys and '
Applicant himself about the Waiver Agreement. Judge Dennis advised Applicant of his
constitutional right to remain silent, and then questioned him extensively -about his decision to
enter into the Waiver. He asked Applicant whether he was under the influence of any alcohol or
medication, whether he had taken any medication or drugs in the past 24 hours, and whether he
was now or in the past treated for any emotional or mental health conditions. [Status Conf, Tr. 8-
9] He asked whether Applicant had sufficient time to discuss the Waiver with his lawyers, and
Applicant indicated that he had. [Status Conf. Tr. at 9] Judge Dennis asked Applicant whether he
was comfortable with his decision and wanted to accept the Waiver, and Applicant answered
“Yes.”

Judge Dennis specifically advised Applicant that he was giving up the right “to have a jury
empaneled, a fair and impartial jury, to listen to the evidence and decide what they believe to be
the true facts. I woﬁ@’t have anything to do with that process if we had a jury trial. Do you
understand that? . . . the actual decision on the issues of fact would be made by a jury. Do you
understand that? . . . You’re not going to have that right now and you understand that, sir?”
Applicant responded “Yes” to these questions. [Status Conf. Tr. at 11]

Judge Dennis further questioned Applicant about the reasons behind his decision to enter
into the agreement, stating:

Court: The reason that you make this decision is because you want to avoid the
death penalty as a possible punishment; is that correct?

Applicant: Yes, sir.

10



Court: Because that’s a real right — that’s a real benefit for you, from your vantage
point?

Applicant:  Yes, sir. [Status Conf Tr. at 14-15].

Judge Dennis went on to explain the process if App]icant elected a jury trial. He explained
that the jury would not have to agree to the death penalty, but that the jury trial would be a “two-
phase” trial process where the jury first determined the issue of guilt, and then in the second phase
would consider the potential sentence. Judge Dennis explained the potential sentences a jury could
consider, and then asked, “But you have removed something and that is the death penalty option.
That’s what you seek to do. Is that right?” Applicant agreed that it was. [Status Conf. Tr. at 17]

At the hearing on the merits of Applicant’s claim for Post-Conviction Relief, both of
Applicant’s Trial Counsel, Boyd Young and Mark Leindecke-r, testified that out of their main
objective was to remove the death penalty as a sentencing option. [PCR Tr. At 65-66] Young felt
that entering into the Waiver was the best option to take the death penalty off the table. Young
further testified as to why he felt that a bench trial was in Applicant’s best interest in this case. He
testified that the difficulty in selecting a jury in a death l;enalty case is that the court has to exclude
those potential jurors who are opposed to the death penalty. The remaining jury panel then consists
of those people who are willing supporters of the death penalty. Young testified that in his
experience, those jurors who are opposed to the death penalty are also the ones who tend to be
more critical of police searches and more critical of police credibility. By losing that sector of the
population, “it makes juries in capital cases much more likely to convict, even in innocent cases.”
[PCR Tr. at 42].

Young further testified that he thought a bench trial was a better option for Applicant than

a jury trial because of the relative weakness of the DNA evidence in Applicant’s case. In

11



Applicant’s case, the DNA report indicated there was a 1 in 260 chance that the DNA belonged to
someone other than Applicant. Young testified that the DNA evidence in most criminal cases is
much more statistically signiﬁcapt. He felt Judge Dennis, as a very experienced trial judge, would
recognize how weak the DNA evidence was in this case, where a jury might not appreciate that
weakness. [PCR Tr. At 44-45, 70-71]

Young also felt Judge Dennis would be a particularly good choice to hear the bench trial
in Applicant’s case, which was based largely on circumstantial evidence. Young felt Judge Dennis
would be willing to hold the State to their high evidentiary standard. Given his prior experience
with Judge Dennis, the horrific facts of the case, the weakness of the DNA evidence, and the
circumnstantial nature of the evidence, he felt Applicant’s chances of acquittal were much better
with a bench trial in front of Judge Dennis than with a jury trial. [PCR Tr. at 42, 44, 45, 48, 62,
63, 64]

The court finds Trial Counsel articulated valid, strategic reasons for advising Applicant tc;
waive his right to a jury trial. While Applicant was not ultimately acquitted, the agreement
accomplished the goal of removing the death penalty from consideration. Moreover, the standard
for establishing ineffective assistance of counsel is independent from the trial outcome. What
matters is whether counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the
exercise of reasonable professional judgment. This court finds that Trial Counsel did exercise
reasonable professional judgment.

In addition, Applicant has suffered no prejudice from the waiver of the right to a bench
trial, despite the fact that the waiver of his right to collateral review has been declared invalid.
A;pplicant entered into an agreement to waive his right to a bench trial, a direct appeal, PCR, and

habeas corpus proceedings all in exchange for the State’s withdrawal of the death penalty. Because
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this court has now granted Applicant a direct appeal and PCR, Applicant actually now has a better
bargain than he initially negotiated. Instead of waiving both his right to 2 jury trial and his right
to collateral review of the conviction, he now in effect has only waived his right to a jury trial in

exchange for the same concession from the State - the exact outcome Trial Counsel predicted when
he advised Applicant to sign the Waiver.

Applicant specifically argues that he was prejudiced at trial because the bench trial was
conducted by the same judge who stood ready to accept his guilty plea. At the PCR hearing,
Applicant testified it was never his intention to plead guilty. [PCR Tr. at 28] ﬂowever, at the
Status Conference before Judge Dennis, the Solicitor stated:

Your Honor . . . you'll recall that on January 8" we had all congregated at the Dorchester
County Courthouse, that we had all the physical evidence, and Mr. Sanders and his attormey
looked through that evidence. Part of the premise of being there was based on prior
conversations that Mr. Sanders had intended to plead guilty that Friday to three counts
of murder. We’d met with the victim’s family and discussed that proposition, that he
would be sentenced to life without parole pursuant to that plea and they were all in
agreement. That Friday we were not able to execute the plea, but had some discussion at
that time of the possibility of a bench trial. Essentially where we are procedurally is that
the State has agreed that in the event we do have a bench trial the defendant waives his
right to a jury trial. We’re prepared to consent to a bench trial before Your Honor and
agree with Mr. Young that in the event of a bench trial, should he be found guilty by Your
Honor, that he would be sentenced pursuant to 16-3-20, under the normal murder statute,
where he would face thirty years to life. [Status Conf. Tr. at 3-4] (emphasis added)

Judge Dennis then questioned Applicant extensively regarding whether he was freely and
voluntarily entering into the Waiver. Judge Dennis stated:

as I recall when we were last assembled, there were family members present.” We were
glad to give you as much time as you needed to talk with those family members and you
had that opportunity. . . when I was requested to come talk about a possible plea and 1
certain respect your decision fully, a hundred percent, saying ‘I am not going to plead’ I
understand that and I respect you for that. It’s a tough decision, I’m sure. And I don’t
know anything about what went on. Ijust know that there was substantial time that we sat
and ultimately a decision was made. That was your conscious decision, something that
you chose to do. Is that correct?

13



Applicant then confirmed that it was his decision not to accept the plea. [Status Conf. Tr.at9, 17-
18].

It is clear from the record that there were unsuccessful plea negotiations prior to trial
between the State and Applicant. Judge Dennis was aware of the fact that plea negotiations took
place in this' case, as they do in the vast majority of crinﬁnal cases prior to trial. Judge Dennis also
knew that Applicant ultimately refused to accept the plea, even though he was facing the death
penalty. This court disagrees that the trial judge would have assumed when Applicant entertained
plea negotiations it was somehow an implied admission of his guilt. One could just as easily
presume that the fact Applicant refused to plead guilty, even when doing so would remove the
threat of the death penaity, was because he was in fact innocent of the crime. Of course, there
were downsides to agreeing to a bench trial instead of a jury trial. However, those were well
known to Applic;.ant and to his attorneys at the time he voluntarily entered into the Waiver in
exchange for the State’s agreement to withdraw the death penaity.

This court finds Trial Counsel exercised reasonable professional judgment in advising
Applicant to waive his right to a jury trial in exchange for the State withdrawing the death penalty,

and denies relief on this ground.

[I.  Was Trial Counsel ineffective for failing to present any expert testimony regarding
the DNA evidence? (Applicant’s ground 6)
Applicant argues Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing fo call a DNA expert to refute
the State’s expert witness testimony. The Supreme Court of South Carolina “has repeatedly held
a PCR applicant must produce the testimony of a favorable witness or otherwise offer the

testimony in accordance with the rules of evidence at the PCR hearing in order to establish
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prejudice from the witness’ failure to testify at trial.” Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 509 S.E.2d

807 (1998). This court finds Applicant failed to meet his burden of proof as to this allegation
because he did not present the testimony of an expert at the evidentiary hearing, and therefore, he
has not established he was prejudiced by Counsel’s allegedly deficient representation. See, e.g.,

Palacio v. State, 333 S.C. 506, 513, 511 8.E.2d 62, 66 (1999) (finding trial counsel not ineffective

for failing to timely request discovery because the contents of the documents were not presented

at the PCR hearing); Skeen v. State, 325 S.C. 210, 217, 481 S.E.2d 129, 133 (1997) (finding

Applicant was not entitled to relief where no evidence was presented at the PCR hearing to show
how additional preparation would have had any possible effect on the result at trial).

In any event, this Court finds Counsel offered a reasonable, strategic explanation for his
decision not to call a DNA expert. Counsel testified he consulted a DNA expert who reviewed the
DNA testing and analysis done by the State. Counsel further testified he chose not to call the
defense expert as a witness because the defense expert did not disagree with the analysis done by
the State’s expert. The record reflects Counsel thoroughly cross-examined the State’s exi:ert and
clearly established the defense’s best argument regarding the DNA -- the fact that it was not a
statistically significant match. Importantly, Counsel was able to emphasize the weakness of the
DNA evidence in this case (1 in 260) in comparison to the exponentially higher probability usually
seen in a DNA match. In addition, Counsel was able to elicit testimony from the SLED DNA
expert that there was semen détected on the victim’s pajamas pants that did not match Applicant’s
DNA profile, and that Applicant was excluded as a contributor for that semen sample. Counsel
thus elicited testimony from the SLED expert that there was the presence of semen from an

unknown male contributor present on the victim’s clothing.
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“Strickland does not enact Newton’s third Jaw for the presentation of evidence, requiring
for every prosecution expert an equal and opposite expert from the defense.” Harrington v. Richter,
562 U.S. 86, 11 (2011). Further, “[c]ounsel’s failure to procure expert ﬁtnesses does not render
their representation deficient when counsel vigorously cross-examines the State’s witnesses and
attacked the accuracy of the evidence.” Lorenzen v. State, 376 S.C. 521, 531, 657 S.E.2d 771, 777
(2008). Indeed, in this case, Counsel retained an expert to test the accuracy and methodology of
the state’s expert and to prepare a vigorous cross-examination of the State’s expert witness.

This Court therefore finds Counsel was not deficient in declining to call the expert as a
witness, nor was Applicant prejudiced by Counsel’s decision. This Court denies relief as to this
ground. |

IV.  Did Trial Co.unsel fail to adequately investigate the case prior to trial? (Applicant’s

Ground 7)

Applicant contends Counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately investigate.
“Criminal defense attorneys have a duty to undertake a reasonable investigation, which at a
minimum includes interviewing potential witnesses and making an independent investigation of

the facts and circumstances of the case.” Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 456, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64

(2011) (citations omitted). ““Although counsel should conduct a reasonable investigation into
potential defenses, Str.ickland does not impose a constitutional requirement that counsel uncover
every scrap of evidence that could conceivably help their client.”” Tucker v. Ozmint, 350 F.3d
433, 442 (4" Cir. 2003) (quoting Green v. French, 143 F.3d 865, 892 (4th Cir. 1998)). “In any
ineffectiveness case, a particular decision not to investigate must be directly assessed for
reasonableness in all the circumstances, applying a heavy measure of deference to counsel’s

judgments.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691; Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 521-22 (2003).
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Moreover, “failure to conduct an independent investigation does not constitute ineffective
assistance of counsel when the allegation is supported only by mere speculation as to result.”

Porter v. State, 368 S.C. at 385-86, 629 S.E.2d at 357, abrogated on other grounds by Smalls, 422

S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (citing Moorehead v. State, 329 8.C. 329, 334, 496 S.E.2d 415, 417
(1998)).

In order to prevail upon a claim that counsel did not adequately prepare or investigate a
case, an applicant must present evidence of what counsel could have discovered or what other
defenses applicant could have requested counsel develop and present had counsel been more

prepared. Harris v. State, 377 S.C. 66, 75-76, 659 S.E.2d 140, 145-46 (2008) (citing Jackson v.

State, 329 S.C. 345, 353-54, 495 S.E.2d 768, 772 (1998)). Furthermore, an applicant must also
present evidence to show how the discoverable matters or defenses would have resulted in a

different outcome. Id. (citing Davis v. State, 326 S.C. 283, 288, 486 S.E.2d 747, 749 (1997);

Skeen v. State, 325 S.C 210, 214, 481 S.E.2d 129, 132 {1997)). Mere speculation as to how the

alleged lack of preparation prejudiced an applicant is not sufficient to support a grant of relief. Id.,

377 8.C. at 75, 659 S.E.2d at 145 (citing Glover v. State, 318 S.C. 496, 498, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540

(1995)).

Trial Counsel Young testified he and the other defense attorneys “didn’t leave any stone
untumed” in the investigation. He testified they interviewed all of the witnesses in the case,
except for those witnesses who refused to meet with them. He further testified he went to every
location himself to view the various crime scenes. They also did an independent analysis of the
DNA evidence, [PCR Tr. At 43, 45] and consulted with an expert in shoe impression analysis.
[PCR Tr. At 46] In addition, Counsel testified the defense attorneys went to the SLED lab and

met with them with respect to the shoe impression evidence. [PCR Tr. At 72]
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This court finds Applicant has failed to show how Trial Counsel failed to investigate and
therefore denies relief on this ground.

V. Was Trial Counsel ineffective for failing to object to the admissibility of the shell

casings? (Applicant’s ground 3)

As a preliminary matter, Applicant has failed to allege on what grounds Trial Counsel
could have objected to the admissibility of the shell casings. Detective Earl Asbilll, the
lieutenant in charge of the Dorchester County Sheriff’s Office Crime Scene Unit, testified that he
responded to the scene of the murders and collected spent shell casings from the scene. [Trial
Tr. At 37-40, 47-48] Applicant has not alleged any grounds for the exclusion of that evidence.

Applicant also testified he felt Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to call a ballistic
expert to dispute the State’s expert opinion that the shells from the murder scene matched the
spent shell casings from two prior shooting scenes and were all likely fired from the same
handgun. This court ﬁndf; Applicant failed to meet his burden of proof as to this allegation
because he did not present the testimony of an expert at the evidentiary hearing, and therefore, he
has not established he was prejudiced by Counsel’s allegedly deficient representation. The
Supreme Court of South Carolina “has repeatedly held a PCR applicant must produce the
testimony of a favorable witness or otherwise offer the testimony in accordance with the rules of
evidence at the PCR hearing in order to establish prejudice from the witness’ failure to testify at

trial.” Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 509 S.E.2d 807 (1998).

Trial Counsel testified he had prior experience challenging ballistics evidence in another
capital case and had consulted with a metallurgist. [PCR Tr. At 47] He felt he was able to
adequately cross examine the State’s expert himself, regarding the subjective nature of toolmark

identification. [PCR tr. At 47]. The trial transcript reflects that Trial Counsel thoroughly cross-
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examined the State’s expert regarding the reliability of that evidence, including studies that have
cast doubt as to the reliability of toolmark evidence. [Trial Tr. at 161-68]

The court ﬁ;lds Applicant has failed to meet its burden of.proof on this issue and denies
relief on this ground.

VL. Was Trial Counsel ineffective for failing to object to hearsay evidence of Xavier

Walker’s identification of Applicant? (Applicant’s Groun-d ()

One of Trial Counsel’s defense strategies was to show that another individual, Xavier
Walker, was a person of interest whom [aw enforcement failed to investigate as a suspect in this
case. At trial, SLED expert Tracy Thrower testified that the shell casings from the murders
matched shell casings found at the scene of two different shootings — the “Hunters Ridge”
shooting and the “Anchor Bar” shooting. [Trial Tr. at 144-56] Xavier Walker had been
identified by witnesses as one of the shooters from the Hunters Ridge incident, and he had been
arrested in connection with the shooting. [Trial Tr. at 98] A bouncer from the Anchor Bar,
Reginald Chambers, witnessed the shooting at that location and had given a statement to law
enforcement that he had spoken with one of the shooters earlier that evening and he believed he
could identify the shooter. [Trial Tr. at 89, 90, 169-80]

When law enforcement questioned Xavier Walker in connection with the murders,
Walker implicated Applicant in both the Hunters Ridge and Anchor Bar shootings. [Trial Tr. at
97-98] Law enforcement then showed Chambers a photo lincup containing Applicant’s photo.
Chambers identified Applicant as the individual who was kicked out of the Anchor Bar and later
got in a truck and fired at the bar from the vehicle. [Trial Tr. at 90, 169-180] Trial Counsel

elicited testimony from the lead investigator that Walker had already been arrested for the
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Hunters Ridge shooting, yet his photo was never shown to Chambers as part of a photo lineup in
connection with the Anchor Bar shooting. [Trial Tr. at 99]

Trial Counsel also questioned investigators as to whether they knew Xavier Walker’s
whereabouts on the night of the murders, and pointed out that investigators had never gotten a
DNA sample from Xavier Walker to compare with the DNA recovered from victim Deanna
Devore. [Trial Tr. at 102-1 OZ;] In addition, Trial Counsel brought out on cross examination that
Walker was subsequently charged in another murder that took place after Applicant was arrested
and depied bond. Law enforcement received a tip regarding the possible location of the gun used
in the subsequent murder, but had failed to follow up on the tip. [Trial Tr. at 103-104]

In closing argument, Trial Counsel refers to Xavier Walker as a person who implicated
Applicant to deflect from his own involvement in the case, stating:

And the whole time that I’ve worked on this case I don’t understand that, until I start to
add up that how do we get here? We don’t get here just because of ballistics. We don’t
get here just because ultimately of DNA. We get here and we get pointed in this
direction because of one individual and one individual only, Xavier Walker. Xavier
Walker is arrested not long after the incident in March at Hunters Ridge, the second place
that we see these shell casings that SLED says match. Xavier Walker is the only person
identified by the victims of that crime as the shooter at Hunters Ridge. Xavier Walker,
after he is arrested . . . gets somehow a bond to get out. Then when this murder comes
down, Xavier Walker, the person who had the gun at Hunters Ridge, probably the same
person who had the gun at The Anchor Bar, becomes cooperative and points a finger at
Anthony Saunders. Xavier Walker, a person whose cell phone was off during the time of
the murder, who wasn’t in communication, who wasn’t talking to girlfriends and other
people . .. And the question was asked again and again and over and over by Mr. Young
and others on the defense team: ‘Did you take a sample from Xavier Walker? Did you
get a DNA sample?’ The answer, “no.” ‘Did you get footwear from Xavier Walker?’
The answer, “no.” ‘Do you know what size Xavier Walker wears?” The answer, “no.”. .
. They get Xavier Walker to tell them that it’s Anthony Saunders, and they quit looking
at Xavier Walker. The same Xavier Walker that they let out on bond and now we
understand was involved in another murder. .. The SLED expert on DNA . . . also had
DNA from the pajama bottoms that she couldn’t match. Yet we don’t go out and check
DNA against a viable suspect, Mr. Walker, who was at the other two crimes that we say
Mr. Sanders was involved in? We don’t check it? Your Honor, what that is in the
context of a murder trial is reasonable doubt. [Trial Tr. 259-66]
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This court finds that Applicant has failed to show any deficiency on the part of Trial
Counsel in eliciting testimony regarding Xavier Walker’s self-serving identification of
Applicant. This court finds that Trial Counsel elicited this testimony as part of a valid strategy to
show potentia.l third-party guilt and denies relief on this ground,

VII.  Was Trial Counsel ineffective for failing to subject the prosecution’s case to

meaningful adversarial testing? (Applicant’s Ground 2).

In United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, (1984), the United States Supreme Court

characterized the protection that the Sixth Amendment affords the defendant:

The right to the effective assistance of counsel is thus the right of the accused to require
the prosecution's case to survive the crucible of meaningful adversarial testing. When a
true adversarial criminal trial has been conducted-even if defense counsel may have made
demonstrable errors-the kind of testing envisioned by the Sixth Amendment has occurred.
But if the process loses its character as a confrontation between adversaries, the
constitutional guarantee is violated. As Judge Wyzanski has written: “While a criminal
trial is not a game in which the participants are expected to enter the ring with a near
match in skills, neither is it a sacrifice of unarmed prisoners to gladiators.”

466 U.S. at 656-657, (citations omitted). The Court stated in Cronic that prejudice to the
defendant can-be presumed if “counsel entirely fails to subject the prosecution’s case to
a meaningful adversarial testing.” When there has been no meaningful adversarial testing, then

“the adversary process itself [is] presumptively unreliable.” Id. In Bell v. Cone, the U.S.

Supreme Court explained further that “the attorney's failure [to test the prosecutor's case} must
be complete” for this standard to be met. 535 U.S. 685, 697 (2002).

A thorough review of the trial transcript in this case convinces the court that Applicant
has failed to show the kind of deficiency contemplated by Cronic and Bell. Counsel thoroughly
cross-examined the State’s witnesses and demonstrated familiarity with both the subject matter
and the weaknesses in the State’s case. Trial counsel elicited testimony showing that there was

another potential suspect in the case who was never seriously investigated by law enforcement.
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Counsel elicited testimony that there was the presence of semen and DNA on victim’s clothing
from an unknown male. Importantly, Counsel also elicited testimony that Applicant had an
idéntical twin brother with whom he shared a bedroom, and that all of the items seized from
Applicant’s home were taken from their shared room. At the PCR hearing, Counsel articulated
valid strategic reasons for his decisions. This court finds Applicant has failed to show any

deficiency in the representation, sufficient to support this claim and denies relief on this ground.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons, this cowrt finds and concludes that Applicant has
established that he received ineffective assistance of counsel when his Trial Counsel advised
Applicant to waive his right to direct appeal of his conviction. This court finds Applicant is
therefore entitled to a belated appeal of his trial conviction, Applicant’s remaining grounds for
relief are denied. ~ Applicant’s current PCR counsel is instructed to file a Notice of Appeal with
the South Carolina Supreme Court pursuant to Rule 243, SCACR.

This court notes Applicant must also file and serve a notice of appeal within thirty days
from the receipt of this order by counsel of record to secure the appropriate appellate review of
this order. See Rule 203, SCACR. Rule 71.1(g), SCRCP, provides if the applicant wishes to seek
appellate review, post-conviction relief counsel must serve and file a Notice of Appeal on the
Applicant’s behalf. Applicant is directed to South Carolina Appellate Court Rule 243 for
appropriate procedures for appeal.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED:

1. Applicant remain in the custody of the South Carolina Department of Corrections; and

2. Applicant is granted the right to seek a belated appeal of his trial conviction..
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AND IT'IS SO ORDERED!

Viow Cude

JUDGE KRISTI F, CURTIS
PRESIDING JUDGE, 1ST CIRCUIT

Gl South Carolina
__ Sept | ,2023-
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